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JANUARY 1ST



2000: On this day 40,000 revellers crowded into Norwich for the City of Light Festival to welcome in the new millennium. The Walk, Haymarket and the Market Place were packed solid and on Tombland there were jugglers, fire-eaters and acrobats. The city centre was buzzing, and the crowd were in party mood as they watched a millennium countdown beamed on to the castle as part of a laser and light show. There was dancing as the classical music from earlier in the evening gave way to the likes of Pulp, Oasis and Madonna. In the city there were bangs and flashes from fireworks as others enjoyed private parties. At midnight the illuminations were accompanied by the sound of Emerson, Lake and Palmer’s ‘Fanfare for the Common Man’ as green beams shot from lasers mounted high on City Hall, fanning across the castle opposite. But there was no disguising the disappointment of many who felt that the fifteen-minute show was not worthy of such a momentous night. Despite widespread publicity that there would be no public fireworks, many believed there would be. However, thousands thronged into the city pubs before stepping out into the street to welcome in the special New Year in time-honoured fashion. (Eastern Daily Press, 1 January 2000)




JANUARY 2ND



1946: On this day ‘The Boy John’ (Sidney Grapes) sent his first letter to the Eastern Daily Press, written in ‘broad Norfolk’ dialect.


Dear Sar, yow did print a message in yar pearper, a wishin all yar readers a happy Christmas. Well, me and Arnt Agatha, an granfar, thort as how we wud be sum o’ the fust to rite an wish yow, an yar staff an orl, a werry happy New Year ... We had a quiet Christmas. Arnt Agatha, she went up to Norwich for shoppin a few days afore, an she stood in a que for an hour and a half to git a harf bottle of rum, wot she wanted for her Christmas pudden. Well, bor, she cort the marster cold threw a waitin in that que. When she got home, she put her feet straight inter a barth of mustid an hot warter, and had a good tot of hot rum. Grandfar, he had a bit of a tissic, too, when he see that rum, an I’m blowed if her an granfar dint finish up that rum so we had no rum in our pudden.


(Grapes, S., The Boy John; The Norfolk News Co. Ltd., undated)




JANUARY 3RD



1899: On this day Gilbert’s Circus of Varieties was enjoying a successful run at the Agricultural Hall, which ‘opened with a bumper house, and the interest centred in this popular place of entertainment seems in no way to have fallen off after the Christmas holidays.’ Norwich-born George Gilbert was a famous equestrian and, with his wife Jennie O’Brien, established a long tradition of circus entertainment in Norwich and Yarmouth (where he built the famous and extant Hippodrome). Gilbert’s ground-breaking showing of ‘The Royal Cinematographe – The Animated Photographs – Presenting with Marvellous Accuracy Scenes of Everyday Life’ was a miscellany of images featuring jugglers, horsemanship, clowns and performing dogs which both amazed and thrilled the Norwich audiences. Equally popular were the performing parrots and cockatoos which were ‘a source of wonderment and amusement ... the feathered performers, besides indulging in all kinds of pleasing tricks, appear to great advantage as firemen, and the intrepid manner in which one member of the brigade enters the burning house and clears out the contents meets with a hearty outburst of applause.’ Exhibitions of equestrianism were given by the Clarke family, Mr C.A. Clarke billed as ‘the unchallenged champion rider of the universe.’ (Eastern Daily Press, 3 January 1899)




JANUARY 4TH



1928: On this day serious flooding took place in Norwich as the Wensum overflowed at Lenwade and the rising water rushed through the city at ‘a great pace.’ Made worse by melting snow and heavy rain, the water reached a small under-line bridge on the railway line which collapsed just after the Norwich mail train had passed. Considerable anxiety had been felt in the city the previous night when it was ascertained that the high tide at Norwich was due at about 8.30 a.m. Luckily, although the wind had veered to the north-west, a direction with which extra high tides are usually associated, it was very light. One veteran waterman with many years acquaintance with the river stated that because of reduced wind, ‘the water at St Martin’s bridge was a foot lower than it had been during the afternoon and that it was passing through the New Mills at a rate of about 8 miles an hour.’ He felt that the water was under control but the city authorities were taking every precaution in their power to minimise the situation. Many people who lived in the Oak Street neighbourhood were anxiously watching the water as it went ‘whirling through the city.’ (Eastern Daily Press, 4 January 1928)




JANUARY 5TH



1941: On this day, New Year’s Eve had come and gone, and it was five days into 1941 when the siren’s piercing wail was heard in the city at 10.38 a.m. and a single enemy aircraft came in from the south-west. Its bombs fell on the outskirts of the city and its machine guns pumped bullets along Ampthill Street and Unthank Road causing surprisingly little damage. The pilot released his bombs after diving down to 100ft and they fell on the City of Norwich School’s playing fields and the Eaton Golf Course. There were sixteen in all, evenly spaced, between 20–100 yards apart, causing craters 6ft deep. No doubt the golfers in no way appreciated these additional German-made bunkers. The last bomb fell 30 yards from the east end of the City of Norwich School, the only damage being broken windows. During 1940 there had been a total of 580 alerts lasting in all 640 hours and 19 minutes ... still, the January sales were on and there were some good bargains in the shops. One store had a good supply of winter coats for £1 and a number of dresses at 10s. (Banger, J., Norwich at War, Wensum Books, 1974)




JANUARY 6TH



1956: On this day it was full speed ahead for the centenary celebrations of the founding of the Norwich YMCA. with a Twelfth Night Party. Numerous events were to take place throughout the year including concerts, talks, film showings, foreign trips, sporting tournaments, the Open Gardens Scheme and more besides. The formation of the Association was first discussed in 1859; nine years after the movement had begun in London. It began in a single room over a tobacconist’s shop called Newbegin in the Market Place and grew rapidly, moving several times to larger premises. A hostel was opened after the First World War and between 1939 and 1945, ‘everything was subservient to the needs of the young men in uniform. The whole premises were turned over to sleeping and feeding troops, and providing for their leisure. Thousands of young men were accommodated during those years.’ After the building of the City College the Association turned its attention to the large number of students and trainees who needed lodgings in the city: ‘They need simple accommodation and good food at a modest price, and somewhere to study in quiet and comfort.’ (Norwich YMCA., A Century of Service 1856 to 1956, City of Norwich Young Men’s Christian Association Programme, 1956)




JANUARY 7TH



1896: On this day the tightrope walker Menotti the Stockholm Wonder gave a thrilling and sensational performance on a lofty telephone wire stretched across the Agricultural Hall. He entered the ring dressed in faultless evening attire and after tripping gently along his ‘slender means of support’ pretended he had been drinking. He rocked along his ‘airy perch’, lighting a cigarette as he went to round after round of applause. Without leaving the wire he divested himself of his evening attire and continued his act in tights. With his eyes securely bandaged and his head enveloped in a sack he walked the tightrope and then made the return journey on skates. A brave member of the audience volunteered to be carried across the wire by Menotti, which drew gasps from the audience and applause when accomplished. After more varied acts, including a troupe of circus dogs, the evening was pronounced ‘the best of its kind ever placed before a Norwich audience’. The performance was put on by George Gilbert, who ‘provided a bill of fare for his patrons which met with hearty approbation from the audience for the good things that the energetic proprietor had presented for their entertainment.’ (Eastern Daily Press, 7 January 1896)




JANUARY 8TH



1774: On this day the Norwich Mercury reported an incident that had taken place in the normally peaceful parish of Eaton, ‘A few nights ago some villains stole and carried away all the poultry belonging to Mr Blyth. They also took away a horse with a bridle and saddle, which horse has not since been heard of.’ The Mercury had occasion to report more wrongdoing in the area:


On Wednesday night, about 8 o’clock as Mr James Esdriss, of Larlingford, farmer, was coming to the city [he] was attacked on Eaton Hill by two footpads, who presented a pistol to his breast and robbed him of 1 guinea, 2 half-guineas, and some silver. They used him in an inhuman manner, one of them beating him very cruelly with a large stick.


The traditional trade of the village was horticulture, growing fruit trees and roses. The proprietor of Ewing’s Nurseries became ‘so prosperous that in 1836 he is called in the directory W.E. Ewing, Esq., and I am told he lived in a big house near the Church.’ (Rye, W., History of the Parish of Eaton in the City of Norwich, Roberts & Co., 1915)




JANUARY 9TH



1923: On this day the teacher and educationist, David Holbrook, was born in Norwich. He was to carve out a career as a prolific novelist, poet and critic of literature and society, one of his formative influences being the adolescent experience of working and acting under Nugent Monck at the Maddermarket Theatre. In A Play of Passion, Holbrook’s fictionalised persona, Paul Grimmer, is sent by his headmaster to help at the theatre. Set in 1940, Holbrook used Monck’s real name ‘because it would be absurd to try and disguise him.’ On arrival Paul and the other pupils stood awkwardly, embarrassed, listening to Nugent proclaim, ‘I built the theatre in 1908, and it was the first theatre to be designed on the lines of the Elizabethan Globe, with an apron stage and a simple fixed set ... as you see, it has no proscenium arch.’ None of the boys knew what a proscenium arch was. They had been to the Theatre Royal (pronounced ‘thee-etter’) and to the Haymarket, but were unacquainted with the technicalities so they looked blank. ‘The sensitive little man was immediately aware of their discomfort and ignorance and turned fatherly rather than spinsterish.’ (Holbrook, D., A Play of Passion, W. H. Allen & Co., 1978)




JANUARY 10TH



1644: On this day, in a wave of Puritan fervour, committees were appointed to search the city churches for ‘idolatrous images’. Sheriff Toft, Aldermen Lindsey, Puckle, Sherwood and Greenwood, together with Mr Kett, John Knight and others met from time to time to visit:


… the several churches in this city and view the same, and take notice of such scandalous pictures, crucifixes, and images, as are yet remaining ... and demolish or cause them to be demolished, and also to take the names of all such persons as can give any information of any misdemeanours of scandalous ministers, and to certifye from time to time their doings therein to the mayor.


The mayor and deputy lieutenants would sit in the council chamber every Tuesday and Thursday to receive information and thereafter to proceed further, ‘as the cause shall require’. These newly constituted reformers began thereafter to ‘deface the monuments, break the windows, file the bells, dash in pieces the carved works, and reave the brasses off the stones and monuments.’ Little escaped the felonious hands of Toft, ringleader of the rabble, once he had a taste of the value of the brasses he pulled off, the cathedral affording him above a hundred. (Blomefield, The History of Norfolk, 1805-10)




JANUARY 11TH



1664: On this day Henry Howard (later 6th Duke of Norfolk) was at the ducal palace in Norwich celebrating his son’s birthday. He had spent Christmas there, on which occasion the entertainments were of considerable splendour. He established good relations with the mayor and corporation, dining in public with them and making rich presents of plate, one year a basin and ewer, another ‘a noble mace of silver gilt’. Edward Browne described the jollifications in his journal: ‘I was at Mr Howard’s ... who kept his Christmas this year at the Duke’s palace in Norwich, so magnificently that the like hath scarce been seen.’ They had dancing every night, offering entertainment to all that would come:


… he built up a room on purpose to dance in, very large, and hung with the bravest hangings I ever saw; his candlesticks, snuffers, tongues, fire shovel and andirons were silver; a banquet was given every night after dancing ... I have seen his pictures, which are admirable, he hath prints and draughts, done by most of the great masters’ own hands. Stones and jewels, such as onyxes, sardonyxes, jacinths, jaspers, amethysts, etc., more and better than any prince in Europe.


(Robinson, J.M., The Dukes of Norfolk: A Quincentennial History, Oxford University Press, 1982)




JANUARY 12TH



1843: On this day Mr Farnell announced the forthcoming term for pupils to his Theatre Street House Establishment, who were to reassemble on the twenty-f irst instant after the Christmas break. Mr Farnell’s standards were high and he awarded himself fulsome praise: ‘At this School the inculcation of good Habits, Manners, and Disposition, and the formation of correct Moral Feelings are made earnest objects of a faithful regard, while an ardent and unceasing energy is directed in studying the best methods of imparting solid and useful instruction.’ Mr Farnell offered thirty years’ experience of a ‘system of Mercantile and Mathematical Tuition, unequalled in its practical adaption’ and was pleased to say that many excellent teachers and accountants in the city had been educated at his establishment, thus proving the success of his endeavours. Greek, Latin, French and English Classics were also taught. In addition to study, pupils were offered boarding facilities and ‘domestic enjoyments’, a private playground and ‘many advantages conducive to health, recreation, and general comfort’. Terms for boarders were moderate and at the request of parents only one charge was made, inclusive of books, stationery, washing and all extra, excepting ‘disbursements made for the pupil’. (Norwich Mercury, 12 January 1843)




JANUARY 13TH



1942: On this day Miss Mabel Mary Field wrote on her diary, ‘Snow, snow, snow, snow all day long! I went to the city in a.m. and got an accumulator for wireless … Cecil Goodhill arrived 2 p.m. and we had lunch and did not go out again as it snowed all day.’ The world had turned into a ‘white world and was very cold.’ Mabel was an elderly single lady of independent means, living at No.105 Newmarket Road. She had moved there with her oldest sister, Edith, in June 1941 to be near their married sister, Hilda Skoulding. Mabel’s father, Sidney Field, was an architect and the family’s existence was one of relative wealth. Even by 1942, all three sisters kept large households of servants. The snow did not let up for the rest of January and ‘Snow!’ appears at the start of all her diary entries well into February. On 16 January she wrote, ‘Very cold, stayed in all day’ and the following day, ‘Snow still lying … very cold, still snow … went down to bank to cash a cheque … very cold.’ Edith had died at the beginning of January, only a short time after their move, and the funeral took place as the snow fell fast and with no respite. (Mabel Mary Field’s Appointment Diary (1942) unpublished, Norfolk Record Office, MC2705)




JANUARY 14TH



1824: On this day an account of a ball was noted in the Assembly Room records:


The ball was opened by the Hon. Mrs Miles and Mr Jerningham with the Russian Dance which was succeeded by quadrilles; these were performed with more than usual animation, in numerous sets, forming large and small circles from the top of the room to the bottom. These graceful dances were kept up with great spirit till three in the morning.


There is also an earlier note (1802) of the dresses worn by the ladies, which were ‘elegant and highly becoming, chiefly of fine worked muslin. Feathers were very generally worn, with fancy caps and Spanish hats’. Traffic could be a problem, even in the 1800s. Advertisements were placed for those attending a Norwich First Subscription Ball in November 1784, to the effect that, ‘Ladies who intend dancing minuets are requested to place themselves on the Front Seats. Many inconveniences having arisen from the obstruction of carriages at the door, gentlemen are requested to order their servants to drive off, when informed by the Porter.’ The minuet was a popular dance, as was the waltz introduced in 1827. (Stephenson, A., The Assembly House Norwich, H.J. Sexton Norwich Arts Trust, undated)




JANUARY 15TH



1898: On this day ‘Old Mortality’, writing in the Norfolk Chronicle, revealed new research pointing to St Peter Mancroft churchyard having been the usual burial place of actors dying in Norwich. The White Swan playhouse formerly stood beside the church, as did a subsequent theatre in the immediate locality, and performers had their lodgings in the neighbouring lanes and streets. Only two stones could be found marking the burial of Norwich Company members. One is inscribed to ‘Ann the wife of Thomas Jackson, comedian, who died March 22, 1784’. Near the north-west gate is a tomb which records the death of Nathaniel Bolingbroke and has an inscription to the memory of Miss Sophia Ann Goddard, a favourite actress on the Norwich circuit:


This Stone is dedicated to the Talents and Virtues of Sophia Ann Goddard, who died March 15 1801, aged 25. The former shone with superior Lustre and Effect in the Great School of Morals, the theatre while the latter informed the private Circle of Life with Sentiment, Taste and Manners that still live in the Memory of Friendships and Affection.


Memorials also existed to William West, a member of the White Swan Company, and Henrietta Maria Bray, ‘a popular actress’. (Norfolk Chronicle, 1 January 1898)




JANUARY 16TH



1841: On this day the Theatre Royal’s new season opened but with some dispute as to the dramatic value of the productions. One critic wrote:


We constantly see surrounding the mighty Shakespeare the names of Knowles, Bulwer, Colman and Talfourd, and others of those whose dramas (though smothered for a time by the invasion of stage monstrosities, filled with the most pernicious innuendo, dressed with nothing and void of any plot or sense) will surely find a home upon the English stage again … but ‘Geishas’ (or any girl of any occupation) are only a peg on which to hang gaudy mounting, the most elaborate undress permissible, a few catchy and in many cases, I must admit, melodious numbers, some dances more than a trifle risky – and there you have the making of a huge success in the theatre of today. A total absence of plot is no bar at all, but rather a recommendation to the absurdity in question … one has really nothing to think about; the whole thing is as free from any tinge of intellectuality as the turns in a travelling Circus.


(Harcourt, B., Theatre Royal Norfolk: The Chronicles of an Old Playhouse, Norfolk News Co., 1903)




JANUARY 17TH



1887: On this day Charles Mowbray and Frederick Henderson, described as ‘Socialists’, together with two labourers named Hall and Hurrell, were brought up in custody before the mayor and other magistrates at Norwich Guildhall. The charge was ‘riotously and tumultuously assembling to disturb the public peace, and with doing damage to the windows of the bank of Messrs Lacon, to the shop window of Mr Bonser, and to the shop of Mr Ladell.’ They were further charged with rioting to the terror and alarm of Her Majesty’s subjects. Evidence was given showing that at a political meeting in the Haymarket, Mowbray and Henderson had incited the unemployed to attack the bakers’ shops, telling them it was no crime to get food if they wanted it. Mowbray led a deputation to the Guildhall, ‘on the steps of which he used strong language and hinted at window breaking.’ Both prisoners were committed for trial but the magistrates were willing to accept bail – Mowbray, Hall and Henderson £100 each, with two sureties of £50 each, and Hurrell £50 with two sureties of £50 each. Bail was not forthcoming and under a strong escort of police the prisoners were removed to the castle gaol. (The Times, 17 January 1887)




JANUARY 18TH



1834: On this day an advertisement appeared in the Norwich Mercury on behalf of the London, Lowestoft, Norwich & Beccles Shipping & Trading Co. announcing that Norwich was officially a modern port. The age of the coach was drawing to its close and it seemed imperative for the city’s commerce to improve access to the London wharves. Accordingly, the city commissioned the Norwich & Lowestoft Navigation scheme, built to bypass Yarmouth, which opened in September 1833. Two schooners were built expressly for the accommodation of the shippers in Norwich, one of which would load every Wednesday at Griffin’s Wharf in London and on the same day the second vessel would load at R. & S. Rudrum’s Wharf, King Street, Norwich. But the venture was short-lived – it was overtaken by the railways in 1846. Norwich and Yarmouth, at each end of the navigable river Yare, often engaged in a tug of war over trade, with frequent associated trickery and arguments over Yarmouth’s income from cargoes being unloaded from coasters onto river craft. The original canal basin was filled in and is now the car park in front of Thorpe Station. (Norwich Mercury, 18 January 1834; King, C., The River Gateway to Norwich, Norwich Rivers Heritage Group, 2004)




JANUARY 19TH



1963: On this day Her Majesty, Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother, opened the new Norwich Central Library and the Norwich Record Office. It was noted that, ‘Her Majesty has far more than a formal interest in libraries and archives. Since 1953 she has been Patron of the British Records Association and of the Norfolk Record Society.’ Norwich had been the first city to adopt the Public Libraries Act of 1850 and the old library in St Andrew’s Street (opened in 1857), was the first building specially designed for its purpose. However, Norwich had had a municipal library in St Andrew’s Hall since 1608 and many of the books from that old library were moved to the latest building. The reference library had shelf footage of 1,746ft which equated to around 14,000 volumes. An American memorial room was opened in the new library funded by the 2nd Air Division, USAAF, to commemorate those officers and men who, flying from East Anglian bases, lost their lives in combat or died in the line of duty. Unfortunately, this library was destroyed in a disastrous fire in 1999, but is reborn in the Forum. (Norwich Central Library, Norwich Libraries Committee, 1963)




JANUARY 20TH



1911: On this day Dr Mary Bell addressed a women’s suffrage meeting to consider a question that was, ‘no new question ... that of the enfranchisement of women.’ Norwich was not a hotbed of the suffrage movement, although an office of Millicent Fawcett’s National Union of Womens’ Suffrage Societies (NUWSS) had been opened in Brigg Street in 1909, and Mrs Pankhurst’s Women’s Social and Political Union (WSPU) in London Street. Dr Bell pointed out that women were still thought of as ‘the weaker sex’, and ‘not fit to vote ... men were not put under any examination before they were given the vote, therefore, why were not women equally as competent to vote?’ She exampled medical women, who had waged a long struggle for professional recognition: ‘at last the doors were opened to them, but look at the waste of time, the waste of brains and energy that all that lapse of time necessitated.’ She demonstrated the inconsistency of the law in that she was thought incompetent to vote but as a doctor she could, with another female doctor, certify a man insane and unfit to vote. Her audience applauded and shouted, ‘Hear, Hear!’ (Eastern Daily Press, 20 January 1911)




JANUARY 21ST



1841: On this day a meeting was convened in Norwich to decide how to put Norwich on the railway map. It was clear to the Norwich burgesses that the directors of the Eastern Counties Railway had no immediate intention of trying to get anywhere nearer than Colchester. ECR rejected all proposals and the city became frustrated in the extreme. Eventually it was agreed that their best hope for reviving the city’s flagging economy lay with the relatively simple route along the Yare Valley, connecting Norwich with the Port of Yarmouth; a fashionable watering place which served as the port for Norwich. Construction was fairly rapid and a special train was given a trial run along the line, single throughout, during April, carrying the government inspector and distinguished guests, among them the Bishop of Norwich, together with representatives of the press. The formal opening took place on 30 April and the line opened for business on 1 May 1844. It was the occasion both for rejoicing and feasting ‘on a Lucullan scale’. The fourteen-coach special train, carrying 200 guests, left Norwich at 10.30 a.m. with a brass band in the coach next along from the engine. The journey took 50 minutes. (Allen, C. J., The Great Eastern Railway, Ian Allan, 1967)




JANUARY 22ND



1821: On this day John Thurtell advertised that he had been in Chapel Field at 9 p.m. when three men had knocked him down and robbed him of £1,508. The cash was in his pocketbook: ‘In notes, 13 of which were of the Bank of England, value £100 each and the name “John Thurtell” is indorsed on them.’ A reward of £100 was offered to whoever might give information ‘which may lead to the apprehension and conviction of the persons concerned in this robbery.’ It sounded an incredible sum of money to be carrying and before long it was discovered to be a scam. Thurtell’s bombazine firm had been declared bankrupt and he was hoping to enjoy a public subscription. In 1923 another John Thurtell was accused of murdering a notorious swindler, William Wear. John’s father, a Norwich alderman, created a stir by refusing to pay for a lawyer to cross-examine the prosecution witnesses. John Thurtell was hanged for the murder in 1924 but his father survived the scandal and became mayor of Norwich in 1828. Many in the family felt the Thurtell name so tarnished that they changed their name to Turner and others to Murray. (Meeres, F., A History of Norwich, Phillimore, 1998)




JANUARY 23RD



1901: On this day the Eastern Daily Press carried its first editorial page, announcing at length the news of the death of Queen Victoria. The story continued over several pages and included reaction from various Norfolk locations. The Queen had died the previous day at Osborne House on the Isle of Wight and the county was plunged into deep mourning. When Victoria visited Norwich in her Golden Jubilee year of 1887 the city welcomed her enthusiastically. The city had not been visited by a reigning monarch for 216 years, since Charles II came in 1671. Edward VII came in 1909 and it was he who made Norfolk a Royal county, as he based himself at Sandringham during his years as Prince of Wales. As was usual at that time – and up until 1940 – the story did not appear on the front page, which was devoted to advertising and public notices. In 1901 there was a milestone in the paper’s history for other reasons, as the paper’s length increased to twelve pages. New premises had been acquired in London Street and during 1898 and thereafter sales continued to rise. (Eastern Daily Press, 23 January 1901)




JANUARY 24TH



1559: On this day Norwich-born physician and academic, John Caius, accepted the office as warden of Caius Court, Cambridge. His true name appears to have been ‘Keye’ and he was born in the city in 1510 in the parish of St Etheldreda. He received his schooling in Norwich and was admitted whilst very young as a student of Gonville Hall where he afterwards became a Fellow. He returned to Norwich and practised as a physician here until 1551, the year in which the ‘sweating disease’ broke out and killed 960 people in Norwich alone. He treated the disease with uncommon success, which gained him a high reputation and brought him to the attention of Edward VI who appointed him as his own physician. In 1556, Caius published his history of the ‘sweating disease’ (in Latin) and in 1557 became physician to Queen Mary, who ‘possessed the greatest regard for him.’ He became Master of Gonville Hall, but his Catholicism upset the Fellows, who were mainly Protestants. Norwich maintains links with Gonville and Caius and a number of Norfolk men have been College Masters. (The History of the City and County of Norwich from the Earliest Accounts to the Present Time, printed by John Crouse, 1768)




JANUARY 25TH



1589: On this day a message arrived from Sir Francis Drake that he wished five Norwich ‘waits’ to accompany him on his forthcoming voyage round the coasts of Spain and Portugal. ‘Three new howboyes and one treble recorder’ and a ‘saquebut’ (sackbut) were supplied for their use on-board. Peter Spratt was the sackbut player and requested a new case for his instrument which cost 10s. They were given ‘cloakes of Stamell cloath’ and a wagon (which the city was to pay for) to transport them to Plymouth where Drake had assembled eight naval ships, armed merchantmen and sixty Dutch flyboats. Norwich waits were musicians who acted as city watchmen and each town had a ‘signature’ tune. The Norwich waits played a large part in the musical entertainment of Elizabeth I during her royal progress to Norwich in 1578. Norwich waits were reckoned to be the best in the kingdom. William Kemp, who earned national fame by dancing a morris dance from London to Norwich, said there were ‘fewe Citties in our Realme have the like, none better.’ Only two of the waits returned from the expedition and the city compensated the widows. (Day, J.W., Norwich Through the Ages, The East Anglian Magazine Ltd, 1976)




JANUARY 26TH



1820: On this day The Times reported on the Norwich Fox Dinner, held annually to celebrate the birthday of the Whig politician, Charles James Fox (1749–1806). It was held at St Andrew’s Hall and 460 tickets were issued. As no room in the city was capable of entertaining such a large number of guests, the mayor allowed them the use of the Town Hall for the meeting. The offer was ‘joyfully accepted and for some days previous to that on which the dinner was held, the stewards were employed in superintending the boarding and matting of the hall.’ The Duke of Suffolk, Earl of Albemarle, Sir R. Ferguson, Mr Coke of Holkham, and others, arrived for the event and on the day of the grand dinner ‘strangers kept pouring into Norwich from various quarters of the county.’ The evening began with ‘the shouting of the multitude without, and the striking up of the music within the hall.’ When the Duke of Sussex made his appearance there were loud cheers and the band struck up God Save the King. After dinner Non nobis Domine was sung by some musical amateurs, toasts given and drunk, and then the speeches began. (The Times, 26 January, 1820)




JANUARY 27TH



2012: On this day an independent documentary film was premiered in London that celebrated the University of East Anglia lecturer and celebrated writer W.G. Sebald. Sebald, who was known to friends as Max, taught at the UEA for more than thirty years, until his death in a car accident in 2001. Patience (After Sebald) was made to coincide with the 10th anniversary of his death on the A146 near Norwich. In it, Grammy nominated film maker and director Grant Gee follows the journey taken by the author through East Anglia in his book, The Rings of Saturn. Grant Gee said the book was unclassifiable, with elements of travel writing, local history, memoirs and fiction all combined: ‘What starts off as an everyday summer holiday walk becomes a very moving, very strange story about the end of all things.’ Contributors include former Poet Laureate and UEA colleague Andrew Motion and novelist Rick Moody. Sebald was born in Germany but moved to Norfolk in 1970 to take up the position of German lecturer at the UEA. Dr Jo Catling was one of Sebald’s UEA colleagues and thought him ‘an inspiration to generations of students, colleagues and readers.’ (Eastern Daily Press, 30 January, 2012)




JANUARY 28TH



1404: On this day Henry IV granted a Charter to Norwich, allowing it more power to govern itself and giving the city the right to elect a mayor and two sheriffs. It gained autonomy as the County of the City of Norwich within the county of Norfolk. The mayor was granted the right to have a sword carried erect before him in presence of all magnates and lords, except kings. The sergeants at mace of the mayor and the two sheriffs were allowed to carry gifts or silver maces bearing the king’s arms, even before the king within the liberty. The first office holder was William Appleyard (1403–04) who lived in what is now the Bridewell Museum. The Guildhall was built to house the councils and courts that flowed from these appointments and mayor ‘making’ was on the first of May. The mayor was both ceremonial and executive head of the city, a powerful position needing a substantial private income, necessary to maintain the office and the high cost of entertainment. This system changed after the Municipal Reform Act of 1835 and the role became increasingly ceremonial, with the title becoming Lord mayor rather than just mayor in 1909. (Norwich, a Fine City, Norwich City Council, 1992)




JANUARY 29TH



1876: On this day the half-yearly general meeting of the shareholders of the Norwich Water Works Co. took place. Top of the agenda was the proposal that ‘in the interests of the Company ... the accounts should be printed and circulated amongst the shareholders previces to the half-yearly meetings.’ In a bid to show that the directors ‘had nothing to conceal’ it was thought that ‘by this means alone would shareholders ... be made acquainted with the management of the business of the company.’ They would then be able to compare one half-year with another ‘and could then see whether the company was prospering or the reverse.’ Not everyone was in agreement, however, a Mr Ayres pointing out that ‘it would be impossible to have the accounts printed and circulated before the meetings, unless the meetings were postponed, the consequence of which would be about three weeks delay in the payment of the dividend.’ After lengthy discussion it was agreed that a resolution be drawn up to the effect that the board would convene a special meeting ‘to consider the advisability of publishing the half-yearly accounts.’ The board promised that the directors would give the matter their ‘best consideration.’ (Norwich Mercury, 29 January, 1876)




JANUARY 30TH



1864: On this day the religious zealot and self-styled ‘Father’ Ignatius moved into No.14 Elm Hill, declaring it the monastery of the Third Order of the Order of St Benedict. It was a bitterly cold day. The streets were deep in snow. The premises had once been a Dominican Priory but had lately been used as a ragman’s warehouse. No fires had been lit in the warehouse for years. Doors were without locks and most windows without glass. Snowflakes flurried in and mice scampered off as Ignatius and Brother Dunstan began the conversion of the old place into the Priory of St Mary and St Dunstan. Elm Hill was a poor district, but no one was as poor as the monks. Human pity cut across all prejudice of creed and garb. The locals could not bear to see their fellow creatures in such an awful place. Carpenters, masons, plasterers, glaziers all gave their skills to keep the worst of the weather out of the new monastery. Women volunteered to act as laundresses and brought small contributions of food, wood and fuel. A doctor, called to attend a brother attacked by rheumatism, offered future services free to the order. (Calder-Marshall, A., The Enthusiast, Faber & Faber, 1962)




JANUARY 31ST



1758: On this day Thomas Ivory’s New Theatre opened with The Way of the World by William Congreve. It was built on land adjoining the present Theatre Royal site. Together with Goldsmith and later Sheridan, Congreve was providing the country with badly needed ‘good new plays’. Sheridan’s School for Scandal was first performed in Norwich in 1779, only two years after its London debut. The following week a presentation of Shakespeare’s Henry V was enjoyed by a loudly patriotic audience. It was during the Seven Years War between England and France and the play was subtitled: ‘The victory of the English over the French’. It is easy to imagine the blood being stirred in that auditorium by Shakespeare’s immortal words: ‘Once more unto the breach dear friends …’ A year later the building was described as ‘The Grand New Concert Hall’, although no theatre licence had been granted. This was rectified in 1768 when the Act of Parliament for licensing the theatre received royal assent. Plays were performed during each year’s season, from Christmas to July. Out of season, it also opened during Assize week, an important social event when crowds flocked into the city from the surrounding countryside. (Howard, V., The Show Must Go On, Wensum Books, 1977)
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